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FCG File Ref: M2A:AH 
 
 
12th August 2024 
 
 
VCAT 
(by online lodging) 
 
 
Dear Sir/Madam 
 
Request for a Review under Section149 of the Planning & Environment Act of the 
Whittlesea City Council’s decision to approve a Development Plan for Precinct 2A in 
Mernda/Doreen at its meeting on 16th July 2024 
 
I am acting for Mr Ajaz Haq, owner of 230 Cookes Road in Doreen, who is adversely affected by 
the layout of the Development Plan in so far as his property is concerned. A review of the 
decision by Council to approve the Development Plan in its current form is requested. 
 
The Development Plan shows that a Local Park, or Council Reserve, is proposed on the northern  
Half of 230 Cookes Road, which is Property 12 as depicted in the Development Plan.  Extracts 
from the Development Plan are shown at Attachment 1. 
 
The Council report indicates that appeals would be under Section 149 of the Planning & 
Environment Act. 
 
Mr Ajaz Haq has previously objected to Council on 12th May 2023 on the layout of the 
Development Plan. The desire is to have a Local Park restricted to the middle of the property with 
residential development at the Cookes Road frontage and at the south end of the property as 
identified in Attachment 2. 
 
The request for review is based on the following contentions –  

1. That the merits of the objection to Council dated 12th May 2023 and seeking a variation 
of the plan, to allow residential development at the Cookes Road frontage, have not been 
fully considered, or alternatively 

2. That options which retain trees but also enable reasonable lot yield have not been 
considered; and 

3. As a result, the Development Plan approved by Council on 16th July 2024 should be 
further varied to allow residential development on the Cookes Road frontage as indicated 
in the objection lodged; and further 

4. The process for considering the Development Plan is deficient because there is no 
consideration of land equalisation so that all landowners equally contribute towards the 
provision of public open space by some landowners. 

 
The Development Plan has identified a number of trees on the property. As shown in the 
attachment, these are tree numbers – 

 In the north of the property – 340 and 341. These are low value trees. 
 In the centre of the property – 338, 339, 342, 343, 344, 345, 346, 347. These are medium 

value trees. 
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The following points are submitted in support of a review –  

1. Trees in the north of the property are both Melaleuca Armilaris (Bracelet Honey-Myrtle), 
identified as Victorian natives of fair health, fair structure, and low value as rated by the 
arborist –  

a. It is contended that these trees do not warrant being set aside in a Local Park 
and should be allowed to be removed for residential development in the north of 
the property. 

b. Allowing for the acquisition of land along the Cookes Road frontage, the first 30m 
back from the adjusted frontage would be sufficient for residential development. 
The type of double-fronted residential development could be –  

i. Preferred medium density development (less than 300m2 lots in area) 
along the lines of the attached 8.5m house design at another site (refer 
to Attachment 3 as an example) but modified for double-fronting to both 
Cookes Road and to the Local Park in the middle of the site. This would 
for example allow 6 lots having a minimum area of 8.5m x 30m = 255m2 
per lot. 

ii. Alternatively, conventional residential development (greater than 300m2 
lots in area) along the lines of the attached 10.5m house design at 
another site (refer to Attachment 4 as an example) but modified for 
double-fronting to both Cookes Road and to the Local Park in the middle 
of the site. This would allow 5 lots having a minimum area 10.5m x 30m  
= 315m2 per lot. 

2. To the immediate south of the northern residential land is proposed to be a 3m wide 
“paper road” containing a 1.5m footpath as well as allowing for installation of underground 
drainage and sewerage. 

3. Trees in the centre of the property have a moderate B rating by the arborist with variable 
assessment of health and structure.  It is agreed that these trees have a higher value and 
should be set aside in a Local Park. 

4. The walkway provides pedestrian access through the Local Park. 
5. Property 11 to the west also contains area for a Local Park.  The two Local Park spaces 

are still continuous between two roads and are accessible. 
6. The double-fronted lots proposed in the north of the property assist provide surveillance 

of the public open space. 
7. There is precedent elsewhere in the Development Plan for residential development 

fronting Cookes Road and having local parks at the centre of lots – e.g. Properties 5, 6 
and 19 on the Development Plan. 

8. It is inequitable that some landowners have to provide a portion of their land for public 
open space when others do not. A form of land equalisation is required so that all 
landowners contribute equally. This should include compensation for those landowners 
who supply an above average area of land for public open space. 

 
In summary, Mr Ajaz Haq seeks the following from a review of Council’s decision –  

1. That the Development Plan be varied to identify –  
a. Residential development in a 30m depth of lots from the adjusted Cookes Road 

frontage in the northern portion of the site. 
b. A “paper road” of 3m in width located along the south side of the northern 

residential land. 
c. Medium density development on this northern portion of the site. 

2. That the Development Plan, or some other suitable mechanism, be further extended to 
include provisions to equalise the provision of land for public open space covering 
the provision of Local Parks across all of the developable land within the limits of the 
Development Plan area. 
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On behalf of Mr Ajaz Haq. 
 
Yours sincerely, 
 

 
Chas Shinkfield 
Managing Director 
 
 
ATTACHMENTS –  

1. Extracts from the Development Plan 
2. Proposed Property 12 Layout 
3. Example of an 8.5m lot development (separate file – Lot 253) 
4. Example of a 10.5m lot development (separate file – Lot 20110) 
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ATTACHMENT 1 – Extracts from the Development Plan 
 
 

 
 

 

230 Cookes Road, 
Doreen 
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230 Cookes Road, 
Doreen 
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ATTACHMENT 2 – Proposed Property 12 Layout 
 
Refer to the next page for an example Layout for Medium Density. 
 
This yields 6 lots – from left to right 11.47m, 4 No x 8.5m, 10.5m. 
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Refer to the next page for an example Layout for Conventional Density. 
 
This yields 5 lots – from left to right 11.97m, 3 No x 10.5m, 12.5m. 
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ATTACHMENT 3 – Example of an 8.5m lot layout 
 
Refer to separate file – Lot 253 (separate project) which would be modified to show double 
fronting to Cookes Road and to the Paper Road. 
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ATTACHMENT 4 – Example of a 10.5m lot layout 
 
Refer to separate file – Lot 20110 (separate project) which would be modified to show double 
fronting to Cookes Road and to the Paper Road. 
 


